C"lj;{T Of Af'Pf!ILS 

nlVI:,JON 111 


~TATF OF WA''IIINnTqN
f'y____, 

No. 338088-111 


Superior Court No. 13-2-00132-0 


IN THE COURT OF APPEALS 

FOR THE STATE OF WASHINGTON 


DIVISION III 


.JESUS OROZCO, 


Appellant 


v. 

DEPARTMENT OF LABOR & INDUSTRIES 

FOR THE STATE OF WASHINGTON, 


Respondent 


BRIEF OF APPELLANT 


Christopher L. Childers 
WSBA No. 34077 

Smart, Connell, Childers &Verhulp P.S. 
309 North Delaware Street, PO Box 7284 

Kennewick, WA 99336 
509-735-5555 

Attorneys for Appellant 



I.

III. INTRODUCTION 

This appeal concerns a workers compensation claim, which 

invokes the Industrial Insurance Act (the Act), codified at Title 51 

RCW. The Act is a self-contained system which provides detailed 

procedures and remedies for injured employees. Oep't of Labor & 

Indus. v. Granger, 159 Wn.2d 752,762,153 P.3d 839 (2007), Brand 

v. Oep't of Labor & Indus. 139 Wn.2d 659, 668,989 P.2d 1111 

(1999). Here, Mr. Jesus Orozco contends the Board of Industrial 

Insurance Appeals (Board) erroneously denied his application to 

reopen his prior workers compensation case. 

IV. FACTS and PROCEDURE 

On April 25, 2006, Mr. Jesus Orozco was employed by 

Goodwill Industries. (CP 94) He had just finished loading a box into 

the back of a truck and turned to jump down to the ground from the 

truck bed. At that same time a co-worker pulled down a heavy 

overhead, metal sliding door that hit Mr. Orozco with great force on 

the top of the head, causing significant injuries. (CP 93-95) Because 

of the injuries to his face, head, neck and low back Mr. Orozco filed 

a workers compensation claim with the Department of Labor & 

Industries (Department), which was accepted. (CP 49, 122) 
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Benefits, including medical treatment and wage replacement were 

provided while he recovered from his injuries. (CP 49-54) His claim 

was ultimately closed on July 29, 2009. (CP 52) At that time no 

formal adjudication was made regarding which medical conditions 

the Department had and/or had not allowed nor was there any award 

or disability rating made. (RP 5; CP 541)2 

However, after the injury, even before the Department closed 

his claim, Mr. Orozco began to suffer from symptoms of depression, 

anxiety, nearly constant pain and a lack of focus and concentration, 

which kept him from working. This lack of focus and concentration 

caused him to have a car accident.3 He was not injured but he is 

now nervous to drive anywhere by himself. His wife usually drives 

him everywhere he needs to go. On the few occasions he tried to 

drive himself somewhere he got very confused and became lost. 

(CP 82-88, 93-99, 102) His symptoms steadily worsened as time 

1 See note of 5-28-10 in the jurisdictional history (CP 54) 

2 RP (report of proceedings) refers to the transcript of the superior court hearing 
of September 29,2014. 

3 At first glance, the record seems to present Mr. Orozco's conflicting testimony 
about the car accident. A close reading of the colloquy reveals a misunderstanding 
between Mr. Orozco and the cross-examiner. Cf. (CP 96-98; 106-107) Once Mr. 
Orozco understood which the question he was able to answer consistently with his 
earlier testimony. 
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went on. Prior to his industrial injury in 2006, he had been an 

excellent provider for his family, went out with his wife and was fun 

to be with. He loved to play with his children and spend time with 

friends and family. Mr. Orozco had never before shown any 

symptoms or experienced any problem with depression, anxiety, 

chronic pain or any other mental health condition. After the injury he 

no longer was able to play with his daughters and rarely left the 

house. He was unable to be intimate with his wife and sleep was 

difficult. Noises raised his anxiety level to the point he would not 

even go to church or watch television with the sound on. When 

asked about his mental state, Mr. Orozco testified that he felt 

"desperate." had "lost all hope" and "fe[lt] like running away." He 

described himself as "worthless." The mental health symptoms were 

not present prior to the injury. (CP 86, 93-96, 98, 100-102) 

On August 12, 2011, which was approximately two years after 

his original claim was closed Mr. Orozco filed an application to 

reopen his claim (also known as an aggravation application) on the 

basis that he was suffering from mental health conditions, directly 

related to his April 2006 industrial injury, which had worsened or were 
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in need of further proper and necessary medical treatment.4 The 

Department denied his request for reopening on October 3, 2011. 

(CP 36,54) Mr. Orozco appealed this decision to the Board, (CP 37

39, 55) which was granted, allowing him to present his case to an 

Industrial Appeals Judge, (IAJ) - a representative of the Board. (CP 

55 - note at 12-21-11) 

At the Board hearing, Mr. Orozco presented the testimony of 

one witness, Dr. Arenas, a licensed psychologist. The Department 

presented the testimony of two witnesses, Dr. Haynes, a licensed, 

Board-certified neurologist and Dr. Snoqgrass, a licensed, Board

certified psychiatrist. 

Dr. Arenas 

Dr. Arenas is a licensed, clinical psychologist in the state of 

Washington. (CP 117) He is bilingual and bicultural. Spanish is his 

first and primary language and he participates in the American and 

Mexican cultures with relative ease. For 40-plus years (since 1972) 

Dr. Arenas has provided psychological treatment for mainly 

monolingual Spanish-speaking patients. (CP 118-120) 

4 See note of 8.12.11 in the jurisdictional history (CP 54) 
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Dr. Arenas met with Mr. Orozco on two occasions: January 7, 

2012 and March 10, 2012. (RP 12; CP 120) Dr. Arenas examined 

all of Mr. Orozco's prior medical records from the Department file. 

Additionally, Dr. Arena reviewed 2010-2011 counseling records from 

Catholic Family Services where Mr. Orozco had sought mental 

health treatment. (CP 138-139; RP 12) Dr. Arenas testified that 

when he initially examined Mr. Orozco, there were immediate 

psychological areas of concern. They included: sadness, 

depression, nervousness, anxiety as well as a psychophysiological 

finding of a chronic pain condition. (CP 123) In his professional 

opinion, Dr. Arenas' formal mental health diagnoses of Mr. Orozco 

were: (1) cognitive disorder NOS; (2) anxiety disorder NOS with 

generalized and post-traumatic features - chronic severe; (3) pain 

disorder with both psychological factors and a general medical 

condition - chronic; and (4) depressive disorder NOS with major 

features - chronic severe. (RP 12; CP 134-135) Dr. Arenas testified 

on a more probable than not medical basis that these diagnoses 

were related to the industrial injury in 2006 and had continued 

unabated into 2012. (RP 12-13; CP 138, 142-43) He found it hard 

to believe that Mr. Orozco's "emotional disorders ha[d] not been 

considered fully [and] ha[d] not been adequately assessed" in the six 
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years since his industrial injury. (RP 12-13; CP 134-36) However, 

malingering was not a diagnosis. (CP 136-138) Dr. Arenas opined 

that suggestions by earlier medical examiners that perhaps 

malingering behavior was something to watch for was very 

detrimental to Mr. Orozco's receiving an accurate diagnosis of, and 

treatment for his mental health conditions from 2006-2012. (CP 137, 

146-147) Dr. Arenas was resolute that Mr. Orozco required further 

workers' compensation benefits in the form of proper and necessary 

medical treatment of his diagnosed psychological disabilities in order 

to "perform full-time work of any nature." This opinion was given on 

a more probable than not medical basis. (CP 143-146) 

Dr. Haynes 

In defense of its decision to not reopen Mr. Orozco's claim the 

Department called Dr. Haynes, who is a licensed and board certified 

neurologist. (CP 163) It is not understood why he was called as a 

witness as he is a physical medical doctor and Mr. Orozco's 

aggravation claim dealt only with a mental health disability. (RP 9) 

Dr. Haynes, by his own admission is not qualified to diagnose mental 

health disorders. (CP 164, 189, 191-192) Although he saw evidence 

of pain behavior in Mr. Orozco, the doctor specifically did not 
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diagnose malingering. (CP 179) Between Dr. Haynes' 'first 

independent medical examination in 2009 to his second on 

September 15, 2001, Dr. Haynes noted of Mr. Orozco: ''The pain was 

a little more extensive in 2011. . .. pain everywhere except his chest 

and abdomen, combination of pain numbness and tingling." Dr. 

Haynes testified that Mr. Orozco said, among other things: "things 

were getting worse, severe enough to make him vomit on occasion." 

(CP 181) Dr. Haynes concluded, after his 2011 independent medical 

examination that he did not find any physical conditions that required 

reopening of Mr. Orozco's claim. Interestingly, Dr. Haynes did note 

that Mr. Orozco had suffered a "major psychological collapse." (RP 

9; CP 191) When questioned about it Dr. Haynes admitted it was "a 

pretty nonspecific term, but I couldn't put it together any other way." 

(CP 191) It was never defined. 

Dr. Snodgrass 

The Department also called as a witness Dr. Lanny 

Snodgrass, a licensed and board certified psychiatrist. (CP 198, 

202) Oddly, the Department inquired into whether Dr. Snodgrass "to 

some extent, climatize[d] to the culture of Mexico." He answered that 

part of his medical training was in Mexico and that he had "to some 
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extent." (CP 206). He also stated: "I'm certainly not pretending to 

crawl into Hispanic skin and feel everything that a Hispanic is feeling, 

but I feel I have more of an insight and understanding than the 

average person who hasn't had the experiences that I've had." (CP 

207) 

Dr. Snodgrass examined Mr. Orozco on two occasions: on 

November 30, 2007, while Mr. Orozco's claim was still open, and 

again on April 3, 2009 just prior to his claim closure. In 2007 Dr. 

Snodgrass did not find evidence of a "major psychological diagnosis" 

although he did note the psychosocial stressors Mr. Orozco dealt 

with on a daily basis as unemployment issues, self-esteem, lack of 

motivation, severe disability conviction, financial challenges and 

chronic pain syndrome. Dr. Snodgrass did not believe there was any 

psychiatric treatment was required at that time. (CP 209, 221-224) 

The diagnosis after the second examination, in 2009 determined Mr. 

Orozco had "no significant neuropsychological residuals stemming 

from the industrial injury of 4/25/06. .." and no psychiatric condition 

..." The psychosocial stressors remained much the same as in the 

2007 exam with the addition of "wife now the gainfully employed" 

family member, and "no sense of regaining employability." Dr. 

Snodgrass "did not feel he [Mr. Orozco] had a permanent partial 
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mental impairment" caused by his injury nor did he agree with Dr. 

Arenas' diagnoses. It is striking and relevant that Dr. Snodgrass 

admitted that "Dr. Arenas [in 2012] is seeing an individual [Mr. 

Orozco] that is much different than what I saw." (CP 234-236, 244) 

Dr. Snodgrass admitted he did not review the sworn testimony 

of Mr. Orozco or Dr. Arenas although he had read the doctor's 19

page report. Additionally he admitted he had not reviewed the 2010

2011 counseling records from Catholic Family Services, an 

organization through which Mr. Orozco sought mental health 

counseling. (CP 247-249; RP 15) In fact, Dr. Snodgrass testified he 

was unable to provide a meaningful opinion of Mr. Orozco's mental 

health condition as of October 3,2011 (T-2). (CP 248) 

Although Dr. Snodgrass was confident of his 2009 diagnosis 

of Mr. Orozco, when asked if his opinion would be the same in 2011, 

"assuming no intervening accidents or injuries," the doctor said"... 

it would no doubt be the same. I can't say for sure ... Really there's 

no way of knowing ... I would assume that that would have been 

similar." (CP 251-252) 

Appellate Procedure at the Board 

9 



After a full hearing, taking into consideration the testimony of 

the above expert witnesses, the IAJ issued a Proposed Decision and 

Order (PDO) on October 22, 2012, which determined the 

Department had properly denied Mr. Orozco's application to reopen 

his claim. (CP 20-34) Mr. Orozco filed a timely Petition for Review 

of this decision, (CP 13-15) which was again denied by the full 3

member Board on December 21, 2012. (CP 5) As a result, on the 

Board panel adopted the IAJ's PDO as its own Decision and Order 

(DO). (CP 5) 

Appellate Procedure in Superior Court 

Mr. Orozco, aggrieved by the Board's final order, filed a Notice 

of Appeal with the Benton County Superior Court. (CP 1-2) The 

court reviewed the administrative record developed throughout Mr. 

Orozco's dealings with the Department and the Board. This record 

is called the Certified Appeal Board Record (CABR). (CP 3-254) At 

this stage of the appeals process, the superior court acted in its 

appellate capacity, performing a de novo review of the CABR. RCW 

51.52.115.5 On September 29,2014, after reading the administrative 

5 RCW 51.52.115 states in relevant part: "Upon appeals to the superior court only 
such issues of law or fact may be raised as were properly included in the notice 
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record and listening to arguments of counsel, (RP 2-40) the superior 

court determined the Board decision, which upheld the Department's 

decision to deny Mr. Orozco's application to reopen his claim, was 

correctly decided. (RP 41-42; CP 267-269) Findings of fact, 

conclusions of law and a judgment were entered in accordance with 

the court's oral decision. (CP 267-269) Mr. Orozco filed a timely 

notice of appeal with this court. (CP 270-271) Pursuant to RCW 

51.52.140,6 it is the superior court's decision Mr. Orozco asks this 

court to review. 

v. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 

(1) Substantial evidence does not support what the trial court 
labeled finding of fact #1.47 which states: "On a more probable 
than not basis the mental health conditions described as: 
cognitive disorder; anxiety disorder; pain disorder with both 
psychological factors and a general medical condition; 
depressive disorder; and malingering were not proximately 
caused by the industrial injury and did not worsen between 
July 29,2009 and October 3,2011." (Emphasis added.) 

of appeal to the board, or in the complete record of the proceedings before the 
board ..." 

6 "Appeal shall lie from the judgment of the superior court as in other civil cases." 

7 Mr. Orozco contends Finding of Fact #1.4 is actually a conclusion of law, which 
is reviewed under a different standard than a true finding of fact. See analysis 
below. (CP 268) 
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(2) The trial conclusions of law 2.28,2.39 and 2.410 do not flow 
from its findings. 

VI. ISSUES ON APPEAL 

(1) Does substantial evidence support the trial court's 
determination that Mr. Orozco's properly diagnosed mental 
health conditions were not proximately caused by his 
industrial injury, thus did not worsen between July 29, 2009 
and October 3, 2011? 

(2) Does substantial evidence support the trial court's finding 
of fact 1.4, which lists "malingering" as a diagnosed mental 
health condition? 

VII. STANDARD OF REVIEW 

In a workers' compensation case, it is the decision of the trial 

court this appellate court reviews, not the decision made by the 

Board of Industrial Insurance Appeals. See Rogers v. Dep't of Labor 

& Indus., 151 Wn. App. 174, 179-81,210 P.3d 355 (2009). RCW 

51 .52.140 provides: "Appeal shall lie from the judgment of the 

superior court as in other civil cases." This court's review is 

8 "Between July 29. 2009 and October 3, 2011, Jesus Orozco's conditions 
proximately caused by the industrial injury did not worsen within the meaning of 
RCW 51.32.160." (CP 268) 

9 'The Board's December 21. 2012 order that adopted the October 22, 2012 
Proposed Decision and Order is correct and affirmed." (CP 268) 

10 "The October 3,2011 Department order that denied Mr. Orozco's application to 
reopen his claim, is correct and is affirmed." (CP 269) 

12