I. INTRODUCTION 
 

This is a substantial evidence case where the appellant Jesus 

Orozco attempts to relitigate the facts of the case. Orozco seeks to reopen 

his workers’ compensation claim contending that his 2006 industrial 

injury caused mental health conditions that worsened after his claim was 

closed. Medical testimony supports that the 2006 injury did not 

proximately cause any mental health condition, and that any unrelated 

mental health conditions did not worsen after the claim was closed; 

substantial evidence thus supports the trial court’s decision. 

 This Court should reject Orozco’s invitation to misapply the 

substantial evidence standard of review by searching for substantial 

evidence in favor of a decision different from that returned by the superior 

court. This Court should affirm the superior court decision that affirmed 

the Department’s rejection of Orozco’s reopening application. 

II. COUNTERSTATEMENT OF THE ISSUES 
 

1. Does substantial evidence support the superior court’s finding 
that Orozco’s mental health conditions were not proximately caused by 
Orozco’s 2006 industrial injury, when a medical witness testified that the 
contended mental health conditions were not caused by Orozco’s 2006 
work injury? 

 
 2. Does substantial evidence support the superior court’s finding 
that Orozco’s mental health conditions did not worsen between July 29, 
2009, and October 3, 2011, when a fact-finder could determine that he had 
the same sort of symptoms since the injury with no worsening? 
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III. COUNTERSTATEMENT OF THE CASE 
 
A. The Department Accepted Orozco’s Workers’ Compensation 

Claim and Provided Treatment and Benefits 
 

 On April 25, 2006, Orozco was working for Goodwill Industries 

Columbia when he sustained a head injury. CP 92-94. At the time of the 

injury, Orozco was working with a supervisor to load boxes on a truck 

when the supervisor closed the overhead door of the truck and struck 

Orozco’s head. CP 94. Orozco did not lose consciousness, and he received 

only conservative medical treatment. CP 122. Orozco filed a workers’ 

compensation claim, which the Department allowed in May 2006, and he 

received benefits, including time-loss compensation and the payment of 

his medical treatment. CP 49. Orozco reached maximum medical 

improvement in July 2009, and the claim was closed. CP 52-54.1  

B. Orozco Later Filed a Reopening Application, Alleging That He 
Had Mental Health Conditions That Worsened After Claim 
Closure 

 
After the claim was closed, Orozco sought mental health treatment 

from Catholic Family Services between March 2010 and July 2011. CP 

139. In August 2011, Orozco applied to reopen the claim, contending that 

he had mental health conditions that had worsened after the claim was 

                                                 
1 If a worker does not need further treatment and his or her condition is 

considered to be at maximum medical improvement (meaning it is fixed and stable), the 
claim may be closed. RCW 51.32.055(1); WAC 296-20-01002 (definition of “proper and 
necessary”). 
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closed. CP 54.2 The Department denied Orozco’s reopening application in 

October 2011. CP 36. Orozco then appealed that Department order to the 

Board of Industrial Insurance Appeals in November 2011. CP 20, 55. 

The parties agree that Orozco did not have a physical condition 

worsen after his claim was closed. App. Br. 6 (“Mr. Orozco’s aggravation 

claim dealt only with a mental health disability.”).3 Orozco presented no 

medical evidence of a change in his physical condition after the claim 

closed. Orozco also did not present evidence that his alleged mental health 

conditions arose solely after the claim was closed; rather, his psychologist 

believed that Orozco had the contended mental health conditions since his 

injury. CP 138. 

After Orozco applied to reopen his claim and the Department 

rejected his application, Orozco was examined by psychologist Silverio 

Arenas, PhD, on two occasions in January and March 2012. CP 54-55, 

120, 124-34. Dr. Arenas diagnosed Orozco with four conditions: cognitive 

                                                 
2 To reopen a claim, an injured worker must prove worsening between two 

specific dates, known as “terminal dates.” RCW 51.32.160(1)(a). The first terminal date 
is the date of the last previous closure or denial of a reopening application. Grimes v. 
Lakeside Indus., 78 Wn. App. 554, 561, 897 P.2d 431 (1995). The second terminal date is 
the date of the most recent closure or denial of a reopening application; practically 
speaking, it is the date of the order currently on appeal. Id. Here the first terminal date 
was July 29, 2009—the date Orozco’s claim was closed. CP 52. The second terminal date 
was October 3, 2011, because this was the date the Department rejected the reopening 
application. CP 54. 

3 An “aggravation claim” is equivalent to a “reopening claim” in workers’ 
compensation parlance. 
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disorder, anxiety disorder, pain disorder, and depressive disorder. CP 135. 

Dr. Arenas believed that Orozco’s conditions were caused by the 2006 

injury. CP 134-35, 143. Dr. Arenas concluded that the conditions had 

worsened between the terminal dates of July 2009 and October 2011. CP 

143, 149-50.  

C. The Department’s Experts Found That Orozco Did Not Have 
Any Cognitive or Mental Health Condition Proximately 
Caused by the Injury 
 
Dr. James Haynes is a board-certified neurologist with expertise in 

diagnosing and treating injured workers in Washington. CP 163-67. Dr. 

Haynes examined Orozco in both 2009 and 2011. CP 168-69. Noting that 

Orozco was not forthright and presented exaggerated symptoms, Dr. 

Haynes concluded that there was no neurological basis for any complaints 

by Orozco. CP 177-79, 187-89. Dr. Haynes determined that Orozco did 

not have the contended cognitive disorder from a neurological perspective. 

CP 189. He found that no condition had worsened between 2009 and 

2011. CP 188. 

Dr. Lanny Snodgrass is a board-certified psychiatrist with 

expertise in diagnosing and treating mental disorders for injured workers 

in Washington. CP 202-03, 207-08. He examined Orozco in 2007 and 

2009. CP 209. Dr. Snodgrass noted that a translator was present to assist 

with his examination. CP 219. Dr. Snodgrass noticed inconsistencies in 
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the 2009 exam, including an excessive grimace when sitting down but no 

grimace when standing up, CP 231, and unreliable reporting of memory. 

CP 239. On a standardized memory-retention test, Orozco scored five out 

of 15, but this would mean that he was a “severely brain-damaged patient” 

or “mentally retarded,” according to the testing metric. CP 222-23. In 

reference to his 2007 examination, Dr. Snodgrass stated that Orozco “did 

not have a psychiatric condition that was causally related to the current 

injury on a more-probable-than-not basis.” CP 223-24. Dr. Snodgrass 

noted the presence of Orozco’s “very fixed disability conviction,” CP 226, 

and noted that at least three doctors had suggested Orozco was 

malingering. CP 217-19 (Drs. Chan, Montgomery, and Taylor). When 

asked about Orozco’s condition as of 2009, Dr. Snodgrass did not believe 

that Orozco had any psychiatric condition caused by the 2006 industrial 

injury. CP 235-36.  

He attributed Orozco’s complaints to how he deals with life in 

general or “the way he deals with stresses in general.” CP 243. Dr. 

Snodgrass was asked whether he could testify about Orozco’s condition in 

2011 when he did not see him since 2009, and he responded that his 

opinions would be similar in 2011, if the “variables” did not change. CP 

251-52. Dr. Arenas’s testimony confirmed that nothing had changed in 

Orozco’s situation, and Orozco did not put on medical evidence that his 
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physical condition changed during the applicable period. App. Br. 6; CP 

143 (stating that nothing in his life has changed). Orozco presented no 

evidence of intervening accidents or injuries or other events after the claim 

was closed. Dr. Snodgrass evaluated Dr. Arenas’s 2012 report and 

testified that he did not agree with Dr. Arenas’s 2012 evaluation. CP 236-

40. Dr. Snodgrass’s opinions were offered on a more probable than not 

basis. CP 211, 222-24, 236. 

D. The Board Affirmed the Department Order Denying 
Reopening of Orozco’s Claim  
 
Following hearings at the Board, the industrial appeals judge 

issued a proposed order affirming the Department order that denied the 

reopening application. The industrial appeals judge was “unable to find on 

a more-probable-than-not basis that [Orozco] has any mental health 

conditions proximately caused by the industrial injury or that his mental 

health conditions worsened between the two terminal dates.” CP 31. The 

Board judge found Dr. Arenas’s testimony was insufficient and 

unpersuasive because he only saw the worker in 2012 “and merely 

speculated [that Orozco’s] condition worsened since July 2009.” CP 31. 

Orozco petitioned the Board for review. CP 13-14. The Board denied the 

petition and adopted the proposed order. CP 5. 
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E. The Superior Court Concluded That Orozco’s Mental Health 
Conditions Were Not Caused by the Industrial Injury and Had 
Not Worsened 

 
Orozco appealed the Board decision to superior court, where the 

judge reviewed the testimony that was presented at the Board. The 

superior court found that Orozco’s 2006 work injury did not cause the 

contended mental health conditions and that the mental health conditions 

had not worsened after the claim was closed in 2009. CP 268. The court 

concluded that “the mental health conditions described as: cognitive 

disorder; anxiety disorder; pain disorder with both psychological factors 

and a general medical condition; depressive disorder; and malingering 

were not proximately caused by the industrial injury and did not worsen 

between July 29, 2009, and October 3, 2011.” CP 268. Orozco appealed to 

this Court. 

IV. STANDARD OF REVIEW 
 

Orozco offers the wrong standard of review, asking for de novo 

review of a factual finding. App. Br. 14. This is contrary to well-

established principles that findings of fact involving causation are review 

at the appellate level under a substantial-evidence standard of review.  

In an industrial insurance case, the appellate court reviews the 

decision of the superior court, as opposed to reviewing the decision of the 

Board. See Rogers v. Dep’t of Labor & Indus., 151 Wn. App. 174, 179-80, 
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210 P.3d 355 (2009).4 The court applies the substantial evidence standard 

of review to findings of fact. See RCW 51.52.140; Rogers, 151 Wn. App. 

at 180.  

Orozco attempts to recharacterize the finding of fact involving 

proximate cause as a question of law seeking to invoke de novo review by 

this Court. Finding of Fact 1.4; see App. Br. 14. However, causation is a 

question of fact. Hertog, ex rel. S.A.H. v. City of Seattle, 138 Wn.2d 265, 

275, 979 P.2d 400 (1999); White v. Twp. of Winthrop, 128 Wn. App. 588, 

595, 116 P.3d 1034 (2005); see 6A WASH. PRAC., WASH. PATTERN JURY 

INSTR. CIV. 155.06 (6th ed. 2012) [hereinafter, WPI] (proximate cause jury 

instruction in workers’ compensation case). The appropriate standard of 

review in addressing whether the industrial injury caused the mental health 

condition is substantial evidence because this dispute is a factual issue. See 

Dellen Wood Products, Inc. v. Dep’t of Labor & Indus., 179 Wn. App. 

601, 619, 319 P.3d 847 (factual issues reviewed under substantial 

evidence standard), review denied, 180 Wn.2d 1023 (2014).  

On substantial evidence review, the court limits its review to 

whether substantial evidence supports the trial court’s factual findings and 

                                                 
4 The Board decision is not reviewed. Rogers, 151 Wn. App. at 180. The 

Washington Administrative Procedure Act, RCW 34.05, does not apply to workers’ 
compensation cases under RCW Title 51. RCW 34.05.030(2)(a), (b); see Rogers, 151 
Wn. App. at 180. 
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whether the trial court’s conclusions of law flow from the findings. Ruse v. 

Dep’t of Labor & Indus., 138 Wn.2d 1, 5, 977 P.2d 570 (1999). 

Substantial evidence exists if there is a sufficient quantity of 

evidence in the record to persuade a fair-minded, rational person of the 

truth of the stated premise. Zavala v. Twin City Foods, 185 Wn. App. 838, 

859, 343 P.3d 761 (2015). The court does not reweigh or rebalance the 

competing testimony and inferences presented to the fact-finder. Zavala, 

185 Wn. App. at 859. Credibility determinations are solely for the fact-

finder and the court does not review such determinations on appeal. Morse 

v. Antonellis, 149 Wn.2d 572, 574, 70 P.3d 125 (2003). The court also 

views the record in the light most favorable to the party who prevailed in 

superior court—here, the Department. See Harrison Mem’l Hosp. v. 

Gagnon, 110 Wn. App. 475, 485, 40 P.3d 1221 (2002).  

V. ARGUMENT 
 

Orozco’s claim of relief rests on his contention that this Court 

should reweigh the evidence under a de novo standard rather than apply 

substantial evidence to his appeal. App. Br. 14. As noted above, 

causation—contrary to Orozco’s unsupported assertion—is a question of 

fact. Hertog, 138 Wn.2d at 275. Turning the substantial evidence standard 

upside down, Orozco asks this Court to apply the substantial evidence test 

to conclude that the testimony of his testifying psychologist, Dr. Arenas, 
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supports a finding that he had mental health conditions proximately caused 

by the industrial injury and that they worsened after the Department closed 

his claim. App. Br. 22 (claiming “that no medical testimony supports a 

contrary result”). But this ignores the testimony of Dr. Snodgrass, who 

testified that Orozco had no mental health conditions proximately caused 

by the 2006 injury. CP 223-24, 234, 236. Dr. Haynes similarly testified 

that there was no basis to conclude that the 2006 injury caused the alleged 

cognitive disorder from a neurological standpoint. CP 187-89. 

The fact-finder believed there was no cognitive or mental health 

condition caused by the industrial injury, based on testimony to that effect 

from Drs. Snodgrass and Haynes. If there is no condition, there is nothing 

to worsen. In any event, a fact-finder could also surmise from this record 

that there was no worsening of Orozco’s claimed conditions. The court 

does not reweigh the evidence on appeal, and the Court takes the 

inferences that Orozco had a disability conviction and secondary gain in 

the Department’s favor. Substantial evidence supports the superior court’s 

decision, and this Court should affirm. 
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A. Orozco Had the Burden of Establishing That He Had a Mental 
Health Condition That Was Proximately Caused by His 2006 
Industrial Injury and That It Worsened Between July 2009 
and October 2011 

 
A worker may reopen a workers’ compensation claim by 

establishing “aggravation” of his industrial injury. See RCW 

51.32.160(1)(a). To succeed in a reopening claim, the worker must prove, 

by medical testimony, that (1) his or her condition was worse after the 

original injury, (2) the worsening was caused by the original injury, (3) his 

or her condition worsened between the terminal dates, and (4) the 

worsening warranted more treatment or disability beyond what the 

Department had provided. Phillips v. Dep’t of Labor & Indus., 49 Wn.2d 

195, 197, 298 P.2d 1117 (1956); Cooper v. Dep’t of Labor & Indus., 188 

Wn. App. 641, 648, 352 P.3d 189 (2015).5 The first terminal date is the 

date of the last previous closure or denial of an application to reopen a 

claim for aggravation. Grimes v. Lakeside Indus., 78 Wn. App. 554, 561, 

897 P.2d 431 (1995). The second terminal date is the date of the most 

recent closure or denial of an application to reopen a claim. Id. at 561. In 

                                                 
5 Price v. Department of Labor & Industries, 101 Wn.2d 520, 521, 682 P.2d 307 

(1984), confirmed that experts may rely on subjective findings alone to support the 
worsening of a mental health condition. However, Price did not diminish the worker’s 
burden to establish the worsening between the first and second terminal dates by 
competent medical evidence. The Department does not contend that Orozco needed to 
demonstrate objective findings in Dr. Arenas’s testimony. 
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this case, the first terminal date is July 29, 2009, and the second terminal 

date is October 3, 2011.  

Because the mental health disorders alleged in the reopening 

application were not accepted as work-related conditions prior to closing 

Orozco’s claim, Orozco had the burden at trial to show that the mental 

health conditions were both (1) proximately caused by the 2006 injury, 

and (2) worsened after the claim was closed. Both of these questions are 

questions of fact. WPI 155.06; WPI 155.12; see also discussion supra Part 

IV. The superior court found that Orozco failed to establish that the 

contended mental health conditions were proximately caused by the 2006 

industrial injury and that they worsened between July 29, 2009, and 

October 3, 2011. CP 268-69. Substantial evidence supports each of these 

determinations. 

B. Substantial Evidence Supports the Finding That Orozco’s 
Mental Health Conditions Were Not Proximately Caused by 
the 2006 Injury 

 
Substantial evidence supports a finding that Orozco did not have 

any mental health conditions proximately caused by his industrial injury. 

The testimony of Dr. Snodgrass provides substantial evidence that Orozco 

did not have any mental health conditions proximately caused by the 

industrial injury. CP 221, 234, 236. The trial court found both Dr. 

Snodgrass and Dr. Haynes credible, and the appellate court does not 
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revisit credibility determinations. Based on their examinations of Orozco 

and review of his medical records, the doctors were of the ultimate 

opinion that Orozco did not have a cognitive condition or mental health 

condition proximately caused by the industrial injury. CP 187-89, 235-36. 

The fact-finder could also rely upon Dr. Haynes’s opinion about 

Orozco’s candor to medical professionals and the neurologic component 

of his alleged cognitive disorder, and use it form the basis of an opinion on 

credibility and his alleged cognitive disorder. Dr. Haynes testified that 

Orozco did not have cognitive disorder from a neurological standpoint, so 

it could not have been caused by the 2006 injury. CP 189. Dr. Haynes 

concluded that Orozco’s pain complaints were due to secondary gain. CP 

187. He called into question Orozco’s credibility by noting “dramatic” 

behavior that was less than candid. See CP 186 (“highly egregious” 

behavior—“more dramatic than most.”); see also CP 233 (Dr. Snodgrass 

testifying to “dramatic” behavior). 

The fact-finder could reasonably rely on Dr. Snodgrass’s opinion 

that Orozco did not have any psychiatric condition caused by the 2006 

injury. CP 223. Misapplying the substantial-evidence standard, Orozco 

argues that “substantial evidence supports Dr. Arenas’s medical opinion, 

especially when one considers the additional records he reviewed but Dr. 

Snodgrass did not.” App. Br. 17. This is asking that the Court consider the 
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validity of Dr. Arenas’s opinion, instead of the sufficiency of the trial 

court’s findings. It also asks that more weight be given to Dr. Arenas 

based on the records he reviewed. Neither request is proper under the 

substantial evidence standard of review, which does not involve the 

appellate court reweighing evidence. 

Based on his qualifications, examination of Orozco, and review of 

medical records, Dr. Snodgrass was competent to provide an expert 

opinion regarding Orozco’s four alleged mental health diagnoses, as well 

as addressing the issue of malingering and intercultural challenges with 

mental health. CP 237-40.6 Moreover, Dr. Snodgrass reviewed and 

provided a detailed opinion regarding Dr. Arenas’s 19-page report issued 

in 2012. CP 236-47. He offered detailed criticism of Dr. Arenas’s 

opinions, which a fact-finder could reasonably adopt. CP 236-42. 

The fact-finder could rely on the testing performed by Dr. 

Snodgrass that showed that Orozco’s self-reported conditions were 

suspect. CP 214-15, 225. For example, based on Orozco’s self-reporting 

he scored as a “severely brain-damaged patient” and “mental retarded” 

                                                 
6 Orozco complains that there was no formal diagnosis of malingering by the 

Department witnesses and therefore it should not have been included in the trial court’s 
findings of fact and conclusions of law. App. Br. 22. Dr. Snodgrass points to malingering. 
CP 221. But assuming that there is insufficient evidence to support a conclusion that 
Orozco was malingering, such an inclusion is harmless error in any case because Orozco 
claims he does not have a diagnosis of malingering in the first place. See App. Br. 22. 
Appellate courts do not reverse a trial court simply because it includes a finding that is 
extraneous to the ruling in the issue before it. See, e.g., State ex. rel. Carriger v. 
Campbell Food Markets, Inc., 65 Wn.2d 600, 606-07, 398 P.2d 1016 (1965). 
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patient even though there was no evidence of this. CP 222-23. Dr. 

Snodgrass concluded that Orozco had a disability conviction based on 

inconsistent and dramatized pain behavior. CP 233-35.  

While Orozco presented testimony to support the theory that the 

contended mental health conditions were caused by his 2006 work injury, 

a reasonable fact-finder could disbelieve Dr. Arenas because he appears to 

have prompted Orozco in his answers to tests. CP 34, 132. Dr. Arenas 

dismissed the opinions of other experts because of the use of translators, 

but a fact-finder could reasonably conclude that the use of a translator 

does not invalidate a psychiatric or neurological exam based on Dr. 

Snodgrass’s testimony that rebutted that issue. CP 236-40. A fact-finder 

could also reasonably conclude that Dr. Snodgrass’s extensive 

professional intercultural experience in Latin America, Europe, and Asia 

would support his ability to appropriately examine and diagnose Orozco. 

CP 199-207 (detailing Dr. Snodgrass’s experience in Mexico, Germany, 

Vietnam, and Singapore).  

A fact-finder could reasonably consider Dr. Arenas’s 

dismissiveness regarding any suggestion from the other experts’ reports

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